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Attention: Order restricting publication – Under section 486.4(2.1) of the Criminal Code, no person shall publish in any document or broadcast or transmit in any way any information that could identify a victim under the age of 18 years.
 “Police actions should not be judged against a standard of perfection. It must be remembered that the police engage in dangerous and demanding work and often have to react quickly to emergencies. Their actions should be judged in light of these exigent circumstances.”[footnoteRef:2]  [2:  R. v. Nasogaluak, [2010] 1 S.C.R. 206 at para. 35.] 

The accused faces two counts of manslaughter: the first for intentionally discharging a firearm while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person, and the second for causing the death of D.H.-L. by criminal negligence through the use of a firearm.
OVERVIEW
The events occurred in the parking lot of a high school in Sainte-Adèle as the accused, an on-duty police officer with the Sûreté du Québec, was attempting to intercept a vehicle that had been reported stolen and was being driven by the victim, and that was suspected of having recently been used to commit ATM thefts. 
After blocking the exit from the area with his patrol car, the accused exited and approached the vehicle that was stopped a short distance in front of him, with the engine still running. Because he wished to arrest the driver, the officer urged him to obey his orders and show him his hands. The officer’s service weapon was pointed at him. The driver only briefly obeyed the orders given, and instead revved the engine. 
Suddenly, in an attempt to escape, the driver moved forward at full speed, steering his car toward the accused. The accused then fired a first shot, hitting the victim in the left elbow, and then immediately fired a second, fatal shot, this time hitting him in the neck.
After passing very close to the accused and striking the front of his cruiser, the vehicle in question came to a stop in a snowbank.
POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES
The accused acknowledges that he shot the victim but claims that he was justified in doing so to protect himself.
According to his counsel, the Crown did not discharge its burden of demonstrating that he committed manslaughter. In her opinion, the evidence does not establish the commission of the underlying offence—the necessary unlawful act—required for her client to be convicted of the alleged crime.
First, she argues that the accused was justified in using lethal force against the victim. By shooting at D.H.-L. with his service weapon as the victim was charging toward him, the accused did not commit an unlawful act because he was entitled to act. According to her, the material element of the offence (the actus reus) therefore does not exist.
Moreover, because the offence under section 244.2(1)(b) Cr.C. requires that a firearm be discharged recklessly (the mens rea), the prosecution was not only required to prove that the accused perceived the risk when firing at the victim (subjective component), but also that the risk was unjustified in the circumstances (objective component), which she argues it failed to do.
Alternatively, she argues that since D.H.-L. was charging toward him with a motor vehicle, the accused was justified in acting as he did within the meaning of sections 25(3) Cr.C. (protection of persons acting under authority) and 34(1) Cr.C. (self-defence), and that the force deployed was reasonable.
On criminal negligence, she argues that the Crown failed to demonstrate that the accused’s conduct constituted a marked and substantial departure from that which a reasonably prudent police officer in the same situation would have adopted.
Counsel for the prosecution acknowledges that the vehicle driven by the victim was heading in the general direction of where the accused was positioned. However, she submits that the accused was never in its path. 
This is especially true since the evidence shows that the second shot was fired as the vehicle passed in front of the accused, close to him, and that the bullet entered through the driver’s partially open window to hit the driver’s neck. Consequently, the accused’s response was unnecessary and unjustified since he was not the subject of an attack that threatened his life or that was of a nature to cause him grievous harm. 
What is more, if the vehicle was really charging toward him, the accused could simply have moved aside a few steps as the configuration of the site and the location of the vehicles would have allowed him to do so. Again, she argues that the accused’s reaction was unnecessary and unjustified.
In short, the accused’s conduct was a series of bad strategic decisions contrary to police training and practices. 
In her opinion, the prosecution discharged its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused is guilty of each of the offences alleged and that the defences presented by the accused are not applicable in this case.
ISSUES
The Court must determine whether the prosecution discharged its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused is guilty. The following questions are at issue:
· Question 1: Did the Crown prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential elements of the offence of unlawful act manslaughter? More specifically, did it demonstrate that the accused intentionally discharged his firearm while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person?
· Question 2: Did the Crown prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused was not justified in acting as he did, within the meaning of section 25 Cr.C., or that self-defence did not apply in his case?
· Question 3: Did the Crown prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential elements of the offence of manslaughter by criminal negligence? In particular, did it demonstrate that the conduct of the accused constitutes a marked and substantial departure from the conduct of a reasonably prudent police officer in the circumstances?
With respect to the charge of manslaughter by intentionally discharging a firearm while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person, given the specific circumstances of this case and the nature of the actions of the accused, the Court believes that the only real issue is whether he was justified in using his firearm and the manner in which he used it.[footnoteRef:3]  [3:  	To the same effect, see Deslauriers c. R., 2020 QCCA 484 at para. 85.] 

That being the case, for the following reasons, the Court is of the opinion that the accused is responsible for the death of D.H.-L. Clearly, the evidence, considered as a whole, shows that the accused voluntarily fired at the victim twice. Moreover, by his sole function as a police officer, it is easy to deduce that he was aware of the risk that his conduct could lead to D.H.-L’s death.
 However, the Court finds that there is a reasonable doubt about the unjustified nature of the force used, within the meaning of section 25(3) Cr.C. Indeed, in the context of a lawful arrest, I am of the opinion that the accused used the necessary and proportionate force to protect himself, in the circumstances, because he could reasonably believe that he was the subject of an attack by which his life or physical integrity were seriously threatened. 
The same is true for self-defence. The Court has a reasonable doubt as to the inapplicability of this defence. In my view, the accused believed on reasonable grounds that D.H.-L. was charging at him in the stolen vehicle, that he fired to defend himself, and that his conduct was reasonable in the circumstances.
As for the charge of manslaughter by criminal negligence, although the accused’s intervention was certainly not perfect from a strategic perspective, the Court is of the view that the Crown has not demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that his conduct constitutes a marked and substantial departure from that of a reasonable person (here, a police officer) in the same circumstances.
PRELIMINARY REMARKS
First and foremost, the Court would like to reiterate a few essential rules.
The accused is presumed innocent. 
This is a fundamental principle upon which Canada’s criminal law system is built. The presumption of innocence is one of the principal safeguards that seeks to ensure that no innocent person is convicted.[footnoteRef:4]  [4:  	R. v. Liftchus, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 320 at para. 13.] 

The presumption of innocence and the standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt are two closely related concepts. As Cory J. recalled, “[i]f the presumption of innocence is the golden thread of criminal justice then proof beyond a reasonable doubt is the silver and these two threads are forever intertwined in the fabric of criminal law”.[footnoteRef:5] [5:  	Ibid. at para. 27.] 

Therefore, the prosecution has the burden of proving the accused’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. This imposes the obligation on the Crown to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential elements of the offences charged.[footnoteRef:6] That burden rests with it throughout the trial. It never shifts to the accused’s shoulders. The presumption of innocence means that the accused is not required to adduce any evidence whatsoever. [6:  	 In this case, in order to succeed, the Crown must also demonstrate the inapplicability of the grounds   of defence set out in sections 25(3) and 34(1) Cr. C. on the same standard of proof.] 

However, if the accused decides to do so, the exculpatory evidence must be assessed in light of all the evidence adduced. It is not necessary that it be believed. It is sufficient that the evidence be such that, when assessed as a whole, a reasonable doubt remains in the mind of the Court as to the accused’s guilt.[footnoteRef:7]  [7:  	R. v. Morin, [1988] 2 S.C.R. 345 at paras. 30 and 44; R. v. MacKenzie, [1993] 1 S.C.R. 212 at 242–243.] 

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is closer to, but does not require, absolute certainty than proof on a balance of probabilities.[footnoteRef:8]  [8:  	 R. v. Starr, [2000] 2 S.C.R. 144 at para. 242; R. v. Avetysan, [2000] 2 S.C.R. 745 at para. 13; A.R. c. R., 2016 QCCA 1793 at para. 23; Sorella c. R., 2017 QCCA 1908 at paras. 17 and 29; Boulachanis c. R., 2020 QCCA 4 at para. 66.] 

Proof that the accused is probably guilty is not sufficient. If the Court concludes that the accused is probably guilty, he must be acquitted.

A reasonable doubt is not an imaginary, frivolous, or irrational doubt. It must not be based on sympathy or prejudice. Rather, it is based on reason and common sense. It is logically derived from the evidence or absence of evidence.[footnoteRef:9] However, it is not proof beyond all possible doubt, but beyond a reasonable doubt, based on a careful and comprehensive assessment of all the evidence, taking into account any imperfections.[footnoteRef:10]  [9:  	R. v. Liftchus, supra note 3 at para. 39.]  [10:  	LSJPA — 181, 2018 QCCA 117 at para. 10.] 

Recently, in Figaro c. R., the Quebec Court of Appeal reiterated it again in the following terms:
[TRANSLATION] 
It is important to highlight the obvious. The Crown’s legal burden is beyond a reasonable doubt. It does not have to dispel all possible doubt. Such a standard would be impossible to meet in our legal system for a very simple reason. A trial is an exercise in reconstructing a past reality of which the judge of fact has no knowledge and who resists any finding of fact in the absence of convincing evidence to the prescribed degree. A guilty verdict is not a declaration of knowledge of a past reality that is objectively absolute and provable, an apodictic certainty. It is the assertion of a belief, a deep conviction, to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt, based strictly on a thoughtful and impartial assessment of the evidence presented.” 
[Emphasis added.]
Moreover, in assessing the evidence, the Court must consider the credibility of the witnesses and the reliability of their testimony, two very distinct concepts.[footnoteRef:11]  [11:  	R. v. G.F., 2021 SCC 20 at para. 82; Paradis c. R., 2019 QCCA 1703 at para. 11; François Doyon, L'évaluation de la crédibilité des témoins dans le cadre de procès relatif à des infractions d'ordre sexuel, (1999) 4 R.C.D.P. at 331.] 

The credibility of a witness refers to their person and characteristics, including honesty, intelligence, judgment, candour, bias, the consistency and coherence of their version, the accuracy of their version, their reluctance, and the evasiveness of their answers.
The apparent sincerity of a witness does not guarantee the veracity of their version. Indeed, it is known that a witness can honestly believe that their version of the facts is true, when it is not, simply because they are mistaken.
The credibility of a witness does not necessarily make their narrative reliable.
Reliability refers to the value of the witness’s narrative. The Court must look for elements to verify that the version is trustworthy. Reliability of testimony refers to the ability of a witness to observe, recall, and relate a fact. In particular, the Court must analyze the opportunity the witness had to gain knowledge of the facts they are relating, the consistency and plausibility of their narrative, the factors that may affect their memory, and the manner in which they communicate.
Assessing testimony is not an exact science, nor is it a mathematical exercise. It is always a delicate exercise. It is often difficult to describe why we believe a witness’s version or not.
However, several factors relevant to assessing the credibility and reliability of witnesses emerge from the case law and the commentary: (1) the general integrity and intelligence of the witness; (2) their ability to observe; (3) their ability to communicate; (4) the reliability of their memory; (5) the accuracy of their testimony; (6) their willingness to tell the truth in good faith; (7) their sincerity, candour, and biases; (8) the interest of the witness; (9) the evasiveness or reluctance of their testimony; (10) the conduct of the witness with the required prudence; (11) the consistency of the testimony with all the evidence, including the confirmatory evidence; (12) the existence of contradictions with the other testimony and the evidence; (13) the plausibility of the testimony; and (14) the inherent consistency of the testimony.[footnoteRef:12]  [12:  	R. c. Foomani, 2023 QCCA 232 at para. 73.] 

One thing is certain, it is not for the Court to conduct a [TRANSLATION] “credibility contest”, nor to choose between the testimony of the prosecution’s witnesses and the witnesses called by the defence.[footnoteRef:13] Rather, it must determine whether, based on all the evidence, there is a reasonable doubt as to the accused’s guilt. [13:  	R. v. J.H.S., [2008] 2 S.C.R. 152 at para. 9; R. V. Van, [2009] 1 S.C.R. 716 at para. 23; R. v. S. (W.D.), [1994] 3 S.C.R. 521 at 533; R. v. C.L.Y., [2008] 1 S.C.R. 5 at para. 8; R. V. Marin-Ariza, 2012 ONCA 385 at para. 20; J.L. c. R., 2017 QCCA 398 at para. 75.] 

Last, it has been established that the judge can accept testimony in its entity, accept only part of it, or reject it altogether.[footnoteRef:14] [14:  	R. v. Challice, 1979 CanLII 2969 (ON CA) at 557; R. V. François, [1994] 2 S.C.R. 827 at 837; A.P. v. R., 2022 QCCA 1271 at para. 13.
] 

Let us now consider at what this means in this case.
BACKGROUND
The accused is a police officer with the Sûreté du Québec. He has several years of experience as a peace officer.
The events occurred in the parking lot of Polyvalente A-N. Morin, a high school in Sainte-Adèle, as he attempted to intercept a stolen vehicle driven by the victim.
That morning, at the start of his shift as a relief sergeant, the accused was informed by a night supervisor that a red Mazda RX-8 vehicle had been stolen and that it was allegedly connected to three thefts at ATMs in the area. The licence plate number of the vehicle was also relayed to him. However, there was no information on the identity of the suspect or the driver.
During the morning, he learned from a colleague that a red Mazda RX-8 had been spotted at the high school during a break that morning.[footnoteRef:15] At the lunch hour, he headed to the location in his patrol car to try to locate the vehicle, assuming that the driver would return. While leaving the site, the accused passed the vehicle in question.[footnoteRef:16] As he went over a speed bump at low speed, the driver glanced at the accused. The driver was the victim, a young man in his twenties, accompanied by a passenger in the front and another person in the back. The accused also observed the licence plate, which corresponded to the information he had. At this point, he was convinced that this was the vehicle he was looking for. [15:  	Sergeant Christian Barbeau, a school-based police officer (SBPO) at Polyvalente A.-N. Morin, said he had informed the teaching staff that a red Mazda RX-8 had been reported stolen in the previous days. He also informed his colleagues that the vehicle had been seen in the school parking lot that morning. Officer Dominic Gingras of the Sûreté du Québec confirmed having received this information and going to the location to meet with Sergeant Barbeau.]  [16:  	Daniel Gauthier said he was informed of the presence of the red Mazda just after a patrol car left the parking lot after patrolling the area. G.D.-C. confirmed that she had passed a police cruiser leaving the area when she was in the red Mazda.] 

The driver continued on his way in a normal manner and drove up the ramp leading to the parking lot.
By radio, the accused requested backup before turning around and returning to the parking lot. Two patrol officers indicated that they were on the way, without specifying where they were or how long before they would arrive on site.[footnoteRef:17] [17:  	See Exhibit P-28: Officer Gingras stated that he arrived first on the scene, about two minutes after reporting that he was responding.] 

Once at the top of the ramp, the accused positioned his cruiser, without flashing lights or sirens, to block the only possible exit from the area to prevent the vehicle from escaping. He then exited and approached the stopped Mazda, which still had its engine running with the front of the vehicle pointing toward the exit. While walking, the accused placed his hand on his belt where his weapon was located.[footnoteRef:18] He then stopped about 20 feet away, between his cruiser and the Mazda. [18:  	See the testimony of Julie Duchesneau, J.T.-M., and Yvon Rioux.] 

After ensuring that the two passengers had moved away from the vehicle, he drew his service weapon, holding it with both hands, pointed at the vehicle in the [TRANSLATION] “low ready” position, as police officers are taught. Just before that, the driver had already revved his engine at high speed, three or four times, while looking directly at the accused in a provocative and mocking manner.[footnoteRef:19] [19:  	See the testimony of Julie Duchesneau and Yvon Rioux. J.T.-M describes D.H.-L. as being somewhat uncooperative.] 

The accused perceived the driver’s actions as an act of intimidation and threat.[footnoteRef:20]  [20:  	See also the testimony of Yvon Rioux, who agrees.] 

He firmly urged the driver to obey his orders. He first asked him to raise his hands in the air, which the driver did, and then immediately lowered them. He made his request a second time, but D.H.-L. did not comply. The third time, D.H.-L. put his hands out the lowered driver’s side window.[footnoteRef:21] The accused said that because he saw this as a sign of cooperation by the driver, he approached to about 15 feet from the front left corner of the vehicle in order to better see the driver and [TRANSLATION] “cut” the distance between them in the event of an escape on foot. He noticed that the wheels were turned to the left, in his direction.[footnoteRef:22] [21:  	Sergeant Christian Barbeau said that the driver’s side window was down halfway. See Exhibit P‑2, photos 42, 44, 45, 46, 50, 51, and 52.]  [22:  	See Exhibit P-40.] 

Suddenly, the driver put his hands on the steering wheel and started forward at full speed, causing the rear wheels of his car to skid, given the icy surface of the parking lot. According to the evidence, the red Mazda accelerated rapidly, causing the rear of the vehicle to skid counterclockwise.[footnoteRef:23] [23:  	See the testimony of Yvon Rioux and Stéphane Gauthier, a police officer specializing in collision scene reconstruction. See also the opinion of expert Jean Grandbois (Exhibit D-2 at 7 of 30).] 

 Seeing the vehicle accelerating toward him, the accused raised his weapon and fired a first shot, hitting the victim in his left elbow, and then quickly, a second, fatal shot to his neck, without ever moving from his initial position. Rather, he instinctively pivoted his body to follow the movement of the Mazda.[footnoteRef:24] [24:  	See Exhibit P-40. See also the testimony of Yvon Rioux.] 

It took approximately 2.6 seconds between the time the vehicle started and the time its “A” pillar was level with the accused.[footnoteRef:25]  [25:  	See Exhibit D-2 at 18–19 and the testimony of engineer Jean Grandbois. Daniel Gauthier believes he heard two shots in two seconds.] 

 After passing closely by the accused and hitting the front of the cruiser, the vehicle came to a stop in a snowbank.
The accused immediately rushed to assist D.H.-L. until the other responders arrived. He asked for someone to call an ambulance because when he got out of his cruiser, he neglected to activate a function (the repeater) that allowed him to use his radio transmitter from outside the vehicle.[footnoteRef:26] [26:  	Officer Dominic Gingras did the same thing and had to return to his cruiser to activate the repeater and request an ambulance to be dispatched to the scene.] 

Unfortunately, the victim died shortly thereafter. 
At trial, the accused stated that his intention was always to arrest the driver for possession of stolen property once backup had arrived on site. He blocked the exit of the parking lot because he feared that when the driver saw him, he would decide to flee with the vehicle, resulting in a high-speed chase, endangering people in the area.[footnoteRef:27] He also intervened alone, without waiting for his fellow officers to arrive, because he was afraid that the driver would flee on foot, abandoning the vehicle.  [27:  	The evidence shows that Hydro-Québec employees were working on Boulevard Ste-Adèle, near the road leading to the parking lot. There is also a residential area nearby.] 

He said he never imagined the driver would charge at him instead.
With respect to the use of his firearm, he said that he aimed at the driver of the stolen vehicle as he had been taught because he was afraid that the driver was armed. Suddenly, the vehicle headed directly toward him—the front left corner, he insisted—with the accelerator to the floor, when he decided to fire two quick, successive shots, in the time it took to pull the trigger. He stopped shooting when he realized the vehicle was drifting off its path and was no longer a threat. Everything happened quickly,[footnoteRef:28] and he felt that he had no other option. He stated that although he remained in control of himself, he was very afraid of being hit by the vehicle and suffering grievous injury or even death. [28:  	According to Jean Grandbois’s expert testimony, 2.6 seconds elapsed between the start of the Mazda’s acceleration and when its “A” pillar passed by the accused (Exhibit D-2 at 18).] 

These were the comments he made spontaneously when a colleague assigned to the investigations section, Sylvain Grenier, came to help and quickly took charge of him at the scene in the moments following the events.[footnoteRef:29] Mr. Grenier said that the accused, who was pale and crying, seemed traumatized by what had just happened when he took him to the Sûreté du Québec station before taking him to the hospital. [29:  	On December 21, 2022, following the voir dire, the Court ruled that the accused’s comments were admissible as res gestae and as an exception regarding the declarant’s state of mind.] 

The entire intervention, from the moment the accused got out of his cruiser until he came to the aid of the victim, lasted only about one minute.
The exercise of determining what occurred during this short period of time is primarily based on the depositions of the civilian witnesses, the testimony of the accused, and the opinions of the various experts heard. 
The viewing of images captured by a witness’s iPod (Exhibit P-40) is of course an invaluable element on which the Court relied in making this decision.
PROSECUTION’S EVIDENCE
CIVILIAN WITNESSES
As part of its evidence, the Crown called the following civilian witnesses regarding the course of events on January 22nd, 2014. The Court accepts the following from their testimony.
Daniel Gauthier
 Mr. Gauthier is the assistant principal responsible for high school students at Polyvalente A-N. Morin. On the morning of the events, he was aware that a red Mazda RX-8 had allegedly been stolen over the weekend. 
During the lunch period, he spotted a police cruiser driving around the parking lot near the adult education section of the school and then leaving via the ramp it had come in by. 
Almost immediately, a monitor informed him that a red vehicle was heading toward the parking lot. From inside the school, through a window, he saw it come to a stop near a set of stairs where it dropped off two female passengers and then slowly drove off again. When the driver turned around, Mr. Gauthier realized that the exit was blocked by a police cruiser. An officer got out of it normally and then walked between it and the vehicle in question. 
From where he was, he saw that the police officer was about a dozen feet in front of the Mazda, standing directly in front of it, between the two headlights, holding the driver at gunpoint with his weapon, telling him firmly to raise his hands in the air and get out of the vehicle. 
The driver responded briefly by raising his hands to shoulder height, then immediately lowered them back onto the steering wheel and started the vehicle forward suddenly. He noticed that the vehicle was spinning out – the tires were turning and the engine was revving while the police officer was right in front of it. As he rushed to another window to get a better view, he heard two quick and [TRANSLATION] “consecutive” gunshots, without actually seeing the police officer fire. He cannot describe the direction of the vehicle at this precise moment, but just before, the accused was in its path.
Mr. Gauthier then observed that the police officer came to the aid of the driver, who was still inside the Mazda, while a worker tried to calm the girls who were with him when they arrived.
For his part, with the help of the school’s custodian, he ensured that no students approached the scene.
According to him, in addition to the two passengers, two staff members and two other students were on site at the time of the events, near a clearing.[footnoteRef:30] He explained that because it was very cold that day, few people had ventured outside. Furthermore, since he did not encounter any other students, he assumes that the lunch period was already over. [30:  	See the video filed as Exhibit P-40 in which few people are seen in the parking lot.] 

Julie Duchesneau 
Ms. Duchesneau is a special educator at Polyvalente A-N. Morin. After lunch, she and her colleague Yvon Rioux went out to smoke a cigarette at the back of the parking lot full of cars.[footnoteRef:31] She saw a red Mazda vehicle come to a stop near the adult education section to drop off two passengers, while a patrol car arrived and blocked the only exit from the site. [31:  	The testimony of Sergeants Christian Barbeau and Matthew Mulcair are to the same effect.] 

Once he exited the cruiser, the police officer began moving toward the red vehicle, without drawing his firearm. It was when he stopped in front of the Mazda, at a distance equivalent to a car length, that the police officer aimed his gun at the driver and repeatedly, in a polite, clear, and direct manner, asked him to turn off the engine, raise his hands in the air, and get out of the vehicle.
The driver was watching the police officer closely, impassively, while repeatedly revving his engine. She believes D.H.-L. was thinking about how to get out of the situation, never really wanting to give up, even displaying a defiant expression, as she described it.
After a while, he raised his hands over his head for a few seconds, then quickly lowered them. She saw the Mazda immediately start forward and, at the same time, she heard two quick, successive shots. 
Since she instinctively curled up at the first shot, she did not see the direction in which the vehicle was headed. From her perspective, just before the driver decided to charge forward, the accused was in front of the vehicle driven by D.H.-L. 

In her opinion, there was not enough space between the other vehicles to allow him to escape without hitting the patrol car.
The accused then rushed to the Mazda to help the victim. He asked someone to call an ambulance. A second police officer, Officer Barbeau, quickly joined him. Ultimately, it was Yvon Rioux who called 9-1-1.
J.T.-M.
J.T.-M. is a student at Polyvalente A-N. Morin. She was returning from lunch with two friends, M.B. and Z.B., and was at the edge of a wooded area at the back of the parking lot where cars were parked. Two or three staff members were also present.[footnoteRef:32]  [32:  	See Exhibit P-40.
] 

She saw a red vehicle stopped with its front end pointing toward the exit and its engine still running. Two female passengers got out of it just as a patrol car manoeuvred to block the exit from the area. A police officer got out of the patrol car and walked normally toward the vehicle, with his hand on his belt where his weapon was located. When he stopped, he called out to the driver in a firm tone several times to raise his hands in the air while aiming his weapon at the driver. 
After several requests, she saw the driver finally show the police officer that his hands were not on the wheel, but he was not really cooperating. Instead, he revved the engine of his car, without moving it. She estimates that two to three metres separated the red vehicle and the patrol car, while the police officer was between them.
Suddenly, the driver lowered his hands and charged toward the police officer at full speed. The officer then fired in his direction. She heard two or three successive and very close gunshots before seeing the Mazda come to a stop in a snowbank, which in her view was impossible to get through.
She explained that she filmed part of the scene using her iPod (Exhibit P-40).
 Once back inside the school, a special education technician came to her to find out what had just happened and what she had witnessed. She gave him her device, which was returned a week later without the images of the event.

M.B. 
M.B. attends Polyvalente A-N. Morin. On the day in question, at the end of the lunch period, he, J.T.-M., and Z.B. were in the school parking lot after a walk through the wooded area. Among several vehicles, he noticed that two members of the teaching staff were also present.
He and his friends were headed back to enter the school when he saw a patrol car suddenly block the exit, at an angle, preventing any other vehicle from getting by.[footnoteRef:33] The police officer quickly got out of the cruiser, drew his firearm (he thinks he did but is uncertain) and walked toward the red Mazda, which had its engine running and its front end pointed toward the police officer and his cruiser. [33:  	Exhibit P-40.] 

Since everything happened quickly, he believes he saw a young girl near the red vehicle at that moment, but he is unsure.
While he estimates that he was between 15 and 20 metres away, he clearly heard the police officer give several orders to the driver, repeatedly, in a fairly loud voice. He explained that the police officer wanted to see the driver’s hands and to place him under arrest; the police officer’s weapon was pointed at the vehicle. 
Rather than obeying the police officer’s orders and cooperating, the driver pressed the accelerator vigorously, numerous times, causing a powerful revving noise.[footnoteRef:34] He assumes that by doing so, the victim wanted to tell the police officer that it was better for him to get out of his way. [34:  	The witness used the French expressions “rince” ([TRANSLATION] “flush”) and “wind” ([TRANSLATION] “wind”) the engine to describe the victim’s actions.] 

He stated that with the accelerator pedal held [TRANSLATION] “to the floor”, the vehicle suddenly accelerated, steering straight toward the police officer; [TRANSLATION] “straight at him.” In his opinion, gripped by fear, the officer fired. He does not know how many shots were fired or their direction, but said that when he heard the shots, the police officer was at an angle, in front of the Mazda, on the driver’s side. Moreover, he stated that throughout the event, the police officer never changed his position.
Immediately, the witness ran to hide behind one of the many cars parked in the parking lot. 

Once he was escorted to the school office by a faculty member, he and J.T.-M. watched the video she had recorded using her iPod while they waited for the investigators to arrive.
Yvon Rioux
Mr. Rioux is a teacher at Polyvalente A-N. Morin. Before going back to class after lunch, he and Julie Duchesneau went outside to smoke a cigarette. As he went through the door to the crowded parking lot, he noticed a red Mazda vehicle stopped in the middle of the area to drop off two young girls; the vehicle’s front end was pointing toward the clearing.[footnoteRef:35] Once the girls had gotten out, they headed toward the stairs leading to the adult pavilion. [35:  	See Exhibit P-42.] 

During this time, he observed a police car, slowly and without flashing lights, position itself to block the exit. He added that several vehicles were also parked on either side of the ramp.[footnoteRef:36] [36:  	See Exhibit P-40, which shows vehicles parked in various locations, some of them on the ramp.] 

When he exited his cruiser, the police officer walked toward the red vehicle with his hand on his belt, before drawing his firearm.
Contrary to what his colleague said, they kept moving, passing just behind the police officer, one foot away from him, while he was already at the driver’s side of the vehicle, less than a foot away from the fully open window, holding the victim at gunpoint, with his weapon aimed at the latter’s head. 
He then recognized D.H.-L., one of his former students. He thought he could help the police officer but under the circumstances, he was afraid things would go wrong if he intervened. He therefore continued walking until he was directly in front of the Mazda, about six feet away. He tried to make eye contact with the driver in an attempt to defuse the situation, but to no avail; the driver’s gaze remained fixed on the police officer. 
From this location, he witnessed the intervention of the police officer who, in a firm tone, repeatedly told the driver to turn off the engine’s ignition, raise his hands in the air, and get out of the vehicle. D.H.-L. did not seem to want to cooperate, pretending more than once to raise his hands just to immediately put them back on the steering wheel, giving the witness the impression that the driver was taunting the police officer, especially since he was staring at him with a defiant and arrogant look (he used the French term “baveux” ([TRANSLATION] “provocateur”)), while repeatedly revving his engine.[footnoteRef:37]  [37:  	Mr. Rioux used the French expression “rince son moteur” ([TRANSLATION] “flush his engine”.] 

Mr. Rioux perceived these actions as signs of threat and provocation toward the police officer.
Now fearing for his own safety, he changed his position without turning around so that he was still able to observe the scene. 
He noticed that D.H.-L., while smirking at the police officer, put his hands on the steering wheel one last time, then engaged the vehicle by pushing the accelerator to the floor. Given the icy condition of the pavement, this action caused the Mazda to skid counterclockwise, shifting it and changing its path, while moving it forward quickly.
At the same time, by reflex and out of fear of being struck, the police officer backed away from the vehicle, repositioned himself and fired two [TRANSLATION] “fairly quick” shots at the driver. His weapon simply followed the Mazda’s path as it passed close by him.
The red vehicle continued, colliding with the cruiser and then ending up stuck in a snowbank, while its wheels spun, as if D.H.-L. was continuing to hold his foot down on the accelerator. The police officer holstered his weapon and helped him, asking for an ambulance to be called, which Mr. Rioux did by dialling 9-1-1.
He then accompanied students inside, after first confiscating a number of cell phones.
The Court recognizes that the events experienced may be more traumatic for some than others. Mr. Rioux seemed more upset than other witnesses, and the Court understands his situation. At the same time, comparing his testimony to that of others, the Court can only conclude that his perception is somewhat distorted. Is this a way for him to convince himself that he could have changed the course of events? The Court does not know. However, the reliability of his narrative is invariably compromised, particularly when it comes to his own initial position or the accused’s repositioning before firing.
G.D.-C.
G.D.-C. is a student at Polyvalente A-N. Morin. She and her friend are the ones D.H.-L. drove back to school after the lunch period. 
 As the red Mazda went up the ramp that leads to the site’s parking lot, they went by a police car. D.H.-L.’s attitude suddenly changed; he became nervous and wanted to drop off his passengers quickly. Once they had gotten out of the vehicle, more or less in the middle of the parking lot, her friend walked to the staircase leading to the adult education section, while she headed to the Polyvalente itself.[footnoteRef:38]  [38:  	See Exhibit P-43.] 

From there, she saw the cruiser block the entrance, and then a police officer quickly and abruptly got out. He aimed his weapon at the driver, holding it with one hand (the right hand), across, at the height of his shoulders, with the other hand supporting his fully extended arm at the wrist. He yelled at D.H.-L. several times in a loud voice to raise his hands in the air and get out of the vehicle.
Unlike other witnesses, she did not hear the Mazda’s engine revving at high speed.
It was as D.H.-L. leaned over and prepared to open the door to get out that the police officer fired two shots at him toward the windshield. She no longer remembers where the police officer was standing, but she recognized the sketch she drew when she met with investigators six days after the events. On it, she placed the police officer right in front of the vehicle, in the centre, close to his patrol car.[footnoteRef:39] [39:  	See Exhibit D-10.] 

She believes that the vehicle bolted and moved forward involuntarily, as if D.H.-L. was pushing the accelerator despite himself, she assumes because his body became heavy due to the injury he had just suffered. While stating that he was definitely not heading toward the cruiser, she did not know how far the vehicle travelled or what it hit to end its crazy path. It was only after the Mazda had stopped that she heard the engine roaring continuously.
Panicked, she rushed to join her friend in crisis at the bottom of the stairs to try to calm her down. It appears that her friend had recently become D.H.-L.’s new girlfriend. 
Urged by a monitor who was trying to remove curious onlookers from the scene, they headed inside the facility, but not before seeing the victim’s lifeless body [TRANSLATION] “fall” out of the vehicle, she said.
The Court can only conclude that the version of events provided by G.D.-C. differs significantly from those of the other witnesses, for example, when she described how the accused held his weapon when he got out of his cruiser. Furthermore, her statement that D.H.-L. was about to cooperate before the accused fired toward the vehicle’s windshield is inconsistent with and contradictory to the evidence adduced. 

Thus, the Court finds that a significant part of her narrative is implausible. Moreover, her palpable reluctance to answer the questions asked by counsel for the accused during her cross-examination, and her inability to recall certain details, simply answering that she did not remember or did not know, without making any real effort, certainly undermines the reliability of her version.
For these reasons, the Court finds that her version is untrustworthy and cannot be accepted in its entirety.
EXPERT EVIDENCE
The Crown also called the following witnesses: Dr. Caroline Tanguay, a forensic pathologist, regarding her opinion on the cause of D.H.-L.’s death based on her autopsy; Stéphane Gauthier, a police officer with the Service de police de la Ville de Montréal who specializes in collision scene reconstruction; and Guillaume Arnet, a forensic ballistics expert, regarding his conclusions on the trajectories of the two bullets fired by the accused using his firearm.
Dr. Caroline Tanguay
Dr. Tanguay is the forensic pathologist who performed an autopsy on D.H.-L.’s body at the Laboratoire de sciences judiciaires et de médecine légale (LSJML) on January 23, 2014.[footnoteRef:40] [40:  	The accused rightly admitted her status as an expert.] 

Her report shows the presence of secondary lesions from the passage of two bullets.[footnoteRef:41] [41:  	Exhibit P-34.] 

The first bullet entered the left side of the neck with a trajectory from front to back, left to right, and bottom to top. Before lodging in the soft tissue behind the right shoulder, its passage caused vascular trauma, resulting in internal bleeding.[footnoteRef:42]  [42:  	Exhibit P-35.] 

These are fatal injuries.
In her opinion, the presence of a powder tattoo around the bullet’s entry wound indicates that the shot was fired in close proximity.
The entry wound of the second bullet is located at the left elbow with a trajectory from back to front, from the bottom up, and from right to left if the arm is placed in the international anatomical position. It was recovered at the crease of the elbow under the skin.[footnoteRef:43] [43:  	Exhibit P-35.] 

Along its trajectory, the bullet fractured the left radius, an injury that, in her opinion, did not lead or contribute to death.
The gunpowder collected from around the entry wound at the neck, the two bullets, and the hoodie and sweater worn by the victim were sent to LSJML’s ballistic laboratory for analysis.
The toxicology report requested by Dr. Tanguay revealed the presence of cocaine metabolite in the victim’s blood and urine, as well as cannabis metabolite in his urine only.[footnoteRef:44] [44:  	See the toxicology report prepared by Anne-Marie Faucher, chemist and forensic toxicologist (Exhibit P-37). Forensic toxicologist Edith Viel explained that metabolites will appear 30 minutes after cocaine use. Since there is no cocaine, per se, but metabolites, this indicates that use occurred 6 to 24 hours before death. Since there are no cannabis metabolites in the blood, use of this substance occurred more than 24 hours before death.] 

Stéphane Gauthier
Mr. Gauthier is a police officer employed by the Service de police de la Ville de Montréal specializing in collision scene reconstruction. Since this is a case involving a member of the Sûreté du Québec, the investigation was entrusted to another police force.
His mandate was to determine the causes and circumstances of the collision between the Mazda and the police vehicle.[footnoteRef:45]  [45:  	He prepared two expert reports, which were filed as Exhibits P-26 and P-27. The position of the [TRANSLATION] “police officer involved,” found in Exhibit P-27, is outside the witness’s area of expertise. This is an approximation of the accused’s position made by Mr. Gauthier after viewing the video recorded by J.T.-M. using her iPod (Exhibit P-40).] 

On the evening of events, he travelled to the high school with a colleague to observe the details of the scene, take measurements using sophisticated devices, and document his observations. 
Upon his arrival, only the Mazda, the patrol car, and a third vehicle (black Kia) were present. He noted that the parking lot area was mostly snowy and icy. 

As part of his observations, he noted two traces of a counterclockwise lateral skid caused by the rotating rear wheels of the Mazda vehicle. When its right rear passenger side hit the passenger-side bumper of the stationary cruiser, the Mazda veered to its left.[footnoteRef:46] The vehicle then collided with the stationary black Kia, just before climbing onto the snowbank where it stopped.[footnoteRef:47] [46:  	See Exhibit P-40.]  [47:  	See Exhibit P-27 at 3 and 6; see also Exhibit P-40.] 

In his opinion, it is likely that the Mazda’s front wheels were not moving in the same direction as its rear wheels. Otherwise, the front of the Mazda, on the passenger side, would have hit the cruiser first. While on the scene, he did not notice any obvious damage in this area of the vehicle,[footnoteRef:48] although the photos taken after towing show significant damage to the front bumper.[footnoteRef:49]  [48:  	See Exhibit P-2, photos 50, 54, and 55.]  [49:  	See Exhibit P-3, photos 1 and 2.] 

Based on the information gathered, it was not possible for him to determine the speed at which the Mazda was moving. 
However, his analysis allowed him to conclude that it was accelerating when its rear wheels skidded to the right and that it was headed toward the police cruiser.
Guillaume Arnet
Mr. Arnet is a ballistics expert employed by the LSJML. He was responsible for determining the trajectory of the bullets fired by the accused.[footnoteRef:50]  [50:  	His status as a ballistics expert was admitted.] 

As part of his investigation, he had to go to the garage where the red Mazda RX‑8 was held.
His analysis allowed him to conclude first that the linear trajectory of the first shot is descending, at an angle of 6 degrees, with an angular opening of 43 degrees, from the left toward the right side of the vehicle, but he was unable to determine the distance at which the accused fired or what position he was in.[footnoteRef:51] These elements could not be determined with the data in his possession. [51:  	See Exhibits P-12 to P-12(b). It is important to note that the arrows are placed for illustrative purposes, to illustrate as accurately as possible the angles to which they refer, but they do not represent the precise measurement.] 

To conduct this analysis, he placed a trajectory rod in the middle of the cavity produced by the passage of the bullet through the coupling of the vehicle’s left mirror,[footnoteRef:52] causing the material to shatter,[footnoteRef:53] and then lined it up with a hard-to-notice break in the rubber membrane around the driver’s window. [52:  	See Exhibit P-6, photos 264 to 269.]  [53:  	See Exhibit P-6, photos 288 to 296.] 

Using a hand-held digital angle indicator, he then measured the angular opening in relation to the vehicle body centreline, along the rocker panels, while another person held the rod in place.
Mr. Arnet explained that this data was collected in a static environment. According to him, it would not vary in a dynamic situation; only the shooter’s perception of the vehicle’s angle would be altered.
As for the second shot, since he did not detect any other indication of the bullet impacting the vehicle, Mr. Arnet concluded that the size of the shot field corresponded to the width of the driver’s window.[footnoteRef:54] [54:  	See Exhibits P-12 to P-12(b). Moreover, at 0.20 seconds of the video recorded by J.T.-M. (Exhibit P‑40), Mr. Arnet identified what appeared to him to be a gunshot (Exhibit P-16). Without concluding that this was the precise position of the accused at the time the second shot was fired, the Court can reasonably infer that the accused was in the vicinity of the vehicle’s driver’s side window at that time.] 

Furthermore, the density and pattern of the partial powder tattooing observed by Dr. Tanguay during the autopsy[footnoteRef:55] allowed him to conclude that the tip of the gun barrel was at a distance of between 30 and 40 cm from the victim’s neck[footnoteRef:56] when he compared them to the test shots he carried out himself. [55:  	See Exhibit P-14, photos 8 to 10, 19, 20, and 22.]  [56:  	See Exhibit P-12, in fine.] 

Based on the measurements of the vehicle, he was able to state that the centre of the driver’s seat is 36 cm away from the window on the left.
At the investigator’s request, Mr. Arnet also analyzed the 9mm Luger Glock pistol used by the accused during the events, as well as the casings recovered from the scene that evening. He concluded that the latter were ejected by the accused’s service weapon.[footnoteRef:57] [57:  	See Exhibit P-13.] 

As for the pistol itself, it is a working firearm, in firing condition, with a trigger pull of approximately 4.1 kg. After explaining the weapon’s mechanism and the dynamics when firing a bullet, Mr. Arnet explained that if someone wants to fire a second successive shot, they do not have to completely release the weapon’s trigger. They only have to partially release the pressure on it, moving their finger a few millimetres to reset the firing pin and then pull the trigger all the way again.[footnoteRef:58] [58:  	Martin Lechasseur stated that the initial trigger pull distance on a Glock pistol is 12.5 mm, but that a subsequent distance of only 8 mm is required to fire again.] 

He further qualified his findings under cross-examination by counsel for the accused.
Without knowing the amplitude, he acknowledged that the method used to measure the angle of the first shot involved some imprecision in terms of the results obtained. In addition, the scientific literature indicates a margin of error of +/- 5 degrees when it comes to establishing the trajectory of a shot.
However, this is not mentioned anywhere in his expert report.
Moreover, Mr. Arnet stated that to determine the angles of the first shot, he simply placed the trajectory rod at the bottom of the cavity, as it was the [TRANSLATION] “natural way the rod fell into cavity”, despite the multitude of equally likely options available to him. 
He admitted that choosing another position would invariably have changed the azimuth and elevation angle of the shot. 
Furthermore, with respect to the second reference point—the break in the rubber membrane—he admitted that he had not performed the available analyses that would have allowed him to determine if this damage was the result of the passage of a bullet or some other source.[footnoteRef:59]  [59:  	Moreover, it was impossible for him to point out the break he mentioned in the photos taken by an officer from the SPVM’s forensic identification section the night after the events (Exhibit P-3).] 

He concluded by admitting that the values attached to the first shot are approximate, making them simply one possible combination among many others. 
Without calling into question his expert status, the Court concludes that the methodology used means that his conclusions regarding the trajectory of the first shot do not provide sufficient guarantees of reliability.[footnoteRef:60]  [60:  	Since 2015, with the advent of more advanced technology, his working methods have changed. He now uses a sophisticated 3D imaging device, which allows him to establish a [TRANSLATION] “cone” of possible trajectories, which reflects the margin of error described above.] 

His opinion on this matter is therefore not accepted.
As for the proximity of the second shot, due to the complex nature of the partial powder tattooing, he changed his opinion and now believes that the tip of the gun barrel was between 20 cm and 50 cm from the victim’s neck at the time the accused fired.
DEFENCE’S EVIDENCE
Martin Lechasseur
In addition to his testimony and that of Sylvain Grenier, which the Court has already considered, the accused called Martin Lechasseur, a retired experienced police officer, to testify about the management policies in effect at the Sûreté du Québec concerning the use by a police officer of his service weapon and police pursuits, and about training on the use of force. 
The Court accepts the following from his testimony. 
During his final years of service, he was a team leader in police intervention techniques. His role was to oversee the work of the instructors under his direction, including ensuring that they developed and maintained their use of force skills so that they could subsequently disseminate to patrol officers and investigators the training programs he had developed, entitled [TRANSLATION] “Use of Force 1” and [TRANSLATION] “Use of Force 2”.
He was also required to plan and organize these requests for training and to carry out related research and development. He was also a member of the technical committees of the École nationale de police (ENP) academy and a shooting instructor at the academy.
When attending the ENP, each aspiring police officer receives basic training in use of force, which includes training in the techniques of using the telescopic baton and pepper spray, controlling a suspect with their bare hands, and intercepting vehicles. Cadets must also pass their firearms training in order to graduate.
All police officers employed by the Sûreté du Québec, whether they are new ENP graduates or from another police force, must undergo a mandatory induction session during which they receive training on handling the Glock pistol. The training is followed by an evaluation based on 10 qualifying criteria.[footnoteRef:61] If they fail to meet any of these criteria, the police officer fails the training.[footnoteRef:62] [61:  	(1) safe handling of the weapon at all times; (2) proper positioning of the index finger along the side of the weapon and not on the trigger; (3) application of basic techniques; (4) loading the weapon; (5) application of targeted firing techniques; (6) application of firing techniques using a sight; (7) application of the technique for drawing; (8) application of the technique to return the weapon to the holster; (9) appropriate correction of jams; and (10) unloading the weapon.]  [62:  	The accused stated that he passed his initial qualification on the Glock pistol in April 2012.] 


Subsequently, to maintain their skills, police officers must requalify annually. During this certification test, the police officer is required to fire 50 bullets. Some of these shots must be made while the officer is moving: first backwards and then diagonally. A final test requires the officer to shoot while moving directly toward the target.[footnoteRef:63] [63:  	The accused stated that he did not have to requalify until the events occurred and that he never took any training where shooting while moving was required.] 

As for the use of this weapon, police officers are taught to adopt a universal cover mode, also known as the [TRANSLATION] “low ready” position, once the weapon is drawn. This involves holding the weapon with both hands, the index finger along the side of the weapon, arms stretched forward, and pointing at the suspect, usually at his hips. This position allows the officer to have a view of the suspect’s hands, as well as the area around their waist, without being obstructed by the weapon and their own hands. To fire, they simply raise their weapon and pull the trigger, if necessary. 
Since the purpose of pointing a weapon is to get an individual to surrender and cooperate, this method has the advantage of being effective in deterring or persuading the individual to act or not, while being quicker and more accurate in the event the police officer ultimately has to fire. It is also safer in that the police officer does not point at other people unnecessarily and is constantly aware of what they are aiming at.
The two-day [TRANSLATION] “Use of Force 1” and [TRANSLATION] “Use of Force 2” development programs are offered to police officers already employed by the Sûreté du Québec.
Vehicle interception methods are discussed in the [TRANSLATION]“Use of Force 1” sessions, while the foundations of the [TRANSLATION] “National Use of Force Model”[footnoteRef:64] are taught in the second program along with the following topics:[footnoteRef:65]   [64:  	Exhibit P-44.]  [65:  	See Exhibit D-11.] 

· Warning signs of an attack: the suspect’s verbal and non-verbal communication, their conduct, and refusal to comply with orders given;
· Tactical communication: the variations in communication based on changing circumstances, from easy to critical. The police officer’s message must always be persuasive. To this end, in a critical situation, they can even point their firearm at an individual to convince them to cooperate;
· 
Tactical principles: barricade; the signs of danger in the suspect; the time/distance ratio to assess the opportunity to take a given action in relation to a potential attack; the 1+1 rule, i.e., to always consider the worst-case scenario when assessing risk, as long as this hypothesis proves to be unfounded, in other words, de-escalation of the risk as the intervention proceeds; clear verbalization; the police officer’s winner mentality, i.e., their courage, confidence, control of stress, determination to achieve their objective, desire not to abandon the fight, even if injured; and to never admit defeat.
Mr. Lechasseur explained that during basic training at the ENP, aspiring police officers are taught the elements to consider when using lethal force:[footnoteRef:66] knowledge of the limitations of their weapon, the imminence of the danger they face, the opportunity for them to act, and the absence of an alternative.  [66:  	Exhibit D-12.] 

Using their firearm must be a police officer’s last resort.
These elements are found to some degree in the Sûreté du Québec’s management policy entitled [TRANSLATION] “Carrying, handling, and use of a firearm: GENERAL DIRECTIVE 42,” at paragraphs 3.4.2. and 3.4.3.[footnoteRef:67] Furthermore, it states that a police officer must never shoot at a moving vehicle, except in the case of self-defence or for the immediate protection of human life, and only where all other coercive means have proven insufficient, inapplicable, or inappropriate. In such situations, the police officer is to fire at the driver and not at a tire, as that method is not effective in stopping a vehicle in time.  [67:  	Exhibit P-45.] 

As for the management policy governing police pursuits[footnoteRef:68] (GEN. OPER. 30), Mr. Lechasseur stated that it covers pursuits using a patrol vehicle, whether the suspect is on foot or in a vehicle, in order to immobilize the suspect when the latter has received an order to stop, refused to obey that order or tried to flee. It contains the same prohibition against a police officer firing at a moving vehicle as the one in the previous policy, subject to the same exception. [68:  	Exhibit P-46.] 

According to the training provided, when a police officer decides to fire, they usually target the [TRANSLATION] “centre mass” of a person, i.e., the chest, if this part of the suspect’s body is visible, of course. He stated that the ultimate goal is to neutralize the imminent threat to the officer or to the people the officer is protecting.

Last, with regard to vehicle interception, there are three levels of intervention: (1) interception with low risk of danger to the police officer’s physical integrity or that of the public (e.g., an offence under the Highway Safety Code); (2) moderate risk interception (e.g., the execution of an arrest warrant or when the driver refuses to comply with the police officer’s signals); and (3) high-risk interception (e.g., a stolen vehicle related to a major crime or situation where there is evidence that one of the occupants may be armed).[footnoteRef:69] In this situation, there is nothing in the police officer training curriculum covering situations where the individual does not cooperate. [69:  	The accused stated that he did not consider the intervention to be high risk.] 

His cross-examination revealed that blocking the path of a vehicle that an officer is attempting to intercept is not a technique taught at the ENP or the Sûreté du Québec.
EXPERT EVIDENCE
Jean Grandbois
The Court also heard the testimony of engineer Jean Grandbois, an expert in vehicle mechanical and dynamic engineering, who came to describe the likely movements of the Mazda, based on the data gathered at the scene and the various pieces of evidence adduced at the trial. 
[image: ]The Mazda RX-8 is a rear-wheel drive vehicle with a manual transmission. It is therefore impossible to accidentally start the engine. On an icy surface, when the front guide wheels are turned to the left, the vehicle’s sudden acceleration causes a counterclockwise lateral skid of the rear, while the front (or the entire vehicle) moves in the direction given by the guide wheels.[footnoteRef:70] [70:  	See Exhibit D-16, figure 5.] 

[image: ]The width of the track of the Mazda’s rear wheels is 1.51 m, while the tracks recorded at the scene by Stéphane Gauthier, a SPVM police officer, indicate distances between 1.84 m and 1.06 m. According to Mr. Grandbois, the rear of the vehicle must therefore have been in a counterclockwise skid since the rear wheels and the tracks left must be superimposed on each other.[footnoteRef:71] [71:  	See Exhibit D-16, figure 16. Stéphane Gauthier’s testimony is to the same effect. See also Mr. Rioux’s testimony.] 


In his view, simulations of the vehicle’s movements using these data show that the vehicle was moving toward the accused. The distance travelled by the Mazda, in a curve due to the skidding of the rear wheels, was approximately 5.7 m before the “A” pillar reached the accused’s position at a speed of 13.5 km/h or 3.8 m/second. Some 2.6 seconds elapsed between the time the vehicle started moving and this moment.[footnoteRef:72] At 2.12 seconds from the start, the front left corner of the vehicle was headed toward the accused.[footnoteRef:73] [72:  	Mr. Grandbois believes that the Mazda’s wheels spun on the spot for about 0.5 seconds before starting forward. See also the testimony of Daniel Gauthier, who stated that he saw the vehicle spinning its wheels.	]  [73:  	See Exhibit D-16, figures 13 and 15.] 

[image: ][image: ]
According to his expert opinion, the left front corner of the Mazda passed a few centimetres away from the accused before coming to a stop a little further away.
Chris Lawrence
Subsequently, retired police officer Chris Lawrence, an expert in the use of force and police intervention, testified about the [TRANSLATION] “National Use of Force Model” and its application framework, of which he was one of the principal developers; the use of a service weapon by a police officer; intervention by a police officer with the driver of a vehicle the officer knows is stolen or in a high-risk situation; and the dangers that a moving vehicle pose to a police officer.[footnoteRef:74]  [74:  	See Exhibit D-21.] 

Mr. Lawrence also provided his opinion on the opportunity the accused had to block the exit from the parking lot to prevent the Mazda from fleeing, the accused’s decision to get out of the patrol car, and how he handled his weapon once he got out.
First, he stated that the [TRANSLATION] “National Use of Force Model” is not a tool intended to justify an officer’s use of force, nor does it dictate a specific response to a particular situation. It is a tool designed to facilitate officer training and to serve as a reference for officers when making decisions. It provides a framework for understanding and explaining events associated with the use of force by a police officer.
The [TRANSLATION] “National Use of Force Model” is based on six fundamental principles, including:
· The primary responsibility of a peace officer is to preserve and protect life;
· The primary purpose of any use of force is to ensure public safety;
· The safety of the officer is essential to the safety of the public.
The officer must continually assess the situation and act reasonably to ensure their own safety and that of the public. The [TRANSLATION] “assessment-planning-action” process, which is at the heart of the model, is dependent on the situation, the subject’s behaviour, and the officer’s perception and tactical considerations.
Police are trained to take control of a given situation. They must manage events without becoming overwhelmed by them or by the speed at which they occur. For the intervention to be successful, while ensuring to protect the safety of the public, officers must deploy more force than is threatened against them or others.
When officers perceive a reasonable risk of grievous harm or death to themselves or to others, one of the options available to them is to use lethal force, even if the officer’s initial perception turns out to be wrong, once all the information is known. In fact, this is the [TRANSLATION] “default” response police officers are taught in order to stop the threat or at least try to mitigate the resulting consequences.[footnoteRef:75] [75:  	Exhibit D-21 at para 147.] 

When an officer decides to fire, they continue to fire until the threat stops, either by the subject’s surrender or by the latter’s psychological or physical inability to act further. 
According to him, police officers are trained to draw their service firearm, to hold it in the “low ready” position and to inform the subject, if the situation allows, when they believe on reasonable grounds that the subject has the intention and means to cause grievous bodily harm or death to them or others, with the objective of deterring them from acting. Waiting to actually be attacked by the subject before reacting puts officers in a more tactically vulnerable position, while the risk of injury or death is directly increased.
In general, police officers do not receive specific training on how to avoid a moving vehicle. He explained that while instinct may cause a person to flee when a vehicle advances on them, that reaction requires the officer to turn their back on a situation that is dangerous to them or others when their role is to protect the safety of persons during an imminent threat.
Firing while moving sideways could affect the accuracy of the shot.
As for the decision to block the exit from the parking lot, Mr. Lawrence believes that this was a prudent intervention on the part of the accused because it reduced the possibility of the vehicle escaping and the risk of a high-speed pursuit potentially resulting in serious consequences for others.[footnoteRef:76] Police are taught that it is generally preferable to contain a subject in a restricted area to better control their actions than to leave them able to move around as they please. [76:  	The evidence shows that snowmobiles had been delivered to the bottom of the ramp leading to the parking lot for the benefit of Hydro-Québec workers. In addition, there is a residential area located near Polyvalente A.N. Morin. ] 

In his opinion, it is better to avoid a pursuit than to be involved in one.
In addition, officers are encouraged to call for backup and wait for their colleagues to arrive before taking action, if the situation permits. In certain circumstances, the necessity or urgency to act is such that the officer must intervene alone, for example, so as to not allow the suspect time or opportunity to plan their escape.

In the presence of a stopped vehicle, there are several reasons why it is preferable for a police officer to exit their cruiser. First, if they stay inside, they become more vulnerable to the vehicle charging toward them and them becoming trapped in the cabin. The driver might also start shooting at the officer if they have a firearm. The officer could try to protect themselves by leaning sideways onto the seat, but from this position, it would be impossible for them to determine what their attacker was doing. 
On the other hand, once outside, it is easier for the officer to communicate and start running after a subject who decides to flee on foot, reducing [TRANSLATION] “time and distance.” In addition, by taking the “low ready” position after drawing his weapon as the accused did, the accused signalled to the driver that his chances of escaping were compromised. The accused also forestalled an attack by the driver because he was concerned that the driver might be in possession of a weapon, such as an object that could be used to steal a vehicle. 
In conclusion, in his view, given that the accused reasonably believed that the Mazda was charging toward him and that he was likely to suffer grievous bodily harm or death, the only option available to him to stop the attack was to fire at the driver. Since the victim was travelling in a “moving steel cage”,[footnoteRef:77] other means, such as physical control and the use of intermediate weapons, were either ineffective or inapplicable. [77:  	The witness used the phrase “moving steel cage” in English.
] 

Mr. Lawrence stated that, in his opinion, given the distance separating the accused from the Mazda and the speed with which events unfolded, it was impossible for the accused to reposition himself strategically. Furthermore, because of the urgency to act arising from the risk of escape posed by the victim, it was not unreasonable for the accused to intervene alone in the circumstances, without waiting for the arrival of backup. 
Last, with regard to the opportunity for the accused to safely use his weapon, that is, assessing the risks and consequences of using it to protect innocent victims, he is of the view that waiting for the passengers to walk away before drawing his weapon is consistent with the training given to police officers, in that this approach mitigated the consequences associated with its use.
Dr. Marc Green
Dr. Green is an experimental psychologist and an expert on studies of human factors and on perception/response time.

 His testimony focused on various factors related to the decision-making process causing an individual to act one way or another: vision, perception, attention, response, and other human factors. To this end, he referred to the following concepts: (1) the ways in which information is processed in humans (bottom-up and top-down) and their impact on response; (2) the “looming” phenomenon that occurs when an object surges and comes at a subject; (3) the effect of memory in relation to [TRANSLATION] “learned” and motor schemata; and (4) the narrowing of an individual’s perception caused by risk (perceptual narrowing), which focuses on the object of danger.
In his opinion, by moving quickly toward the accused as it did, the vehicle could be perceived as a “looming” threat, in that its size grew disproportionately relative to its actual size as it accelerated toward the accused. The “looming” phenomenon usually triggers a narrowing of the subject’s perception, which brings up emotions (fear, anxiety) and elicits a defensive reaction on the subject’s part.
Since he had never been exposed to such a situation before and considering the limited time available to respond, the accused was not in the usual analytical mode in which information is processed top-down from the brain to the senses. In this case, when fear and stress rise, the bottom-up processing mode takes over, where sensory information dominates and a [TRANSLATION] “learned,” simple, and known defensive schema is used, in this case to fire at the threat.
Moreover, there is a time lag between the perception of the threat and the response to it (perception-response time), which varies from person to person and depending on various considerations. The more familiar the subject is with the situation, in terms of training and experience, the faster their response time will be. So, there may have been some time between when the accused perceived that the Mazda had started forward, when he realized that he had to respond, and when he actually decided to fire. In this regard, Dr. Green considers the two shots fired by the accused to be part of a single response to a threat, not two different sequences.
ANALYSIS
Did the Crown prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential elements of the offence of unlawful act manslaughter? More specifically, did it demonstrate that the accused intentionally discharged his firearm while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person?
The first charge the accused is facing is unlawful act manslaughter (the underlying offence), i.e., having intentionally discharged his service firearm while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person, the offence set out in paragraph 244.2(1)(b) Cr.C.
The burden is on the Crown to prove that the accused committed an unlawful act, that a reasonably foreseeable risk of non-trivial bodily harm to another resulted,[footnoteRef:78] and that his actions caused the death of D.H.-L. [78:  	R. v. Javanmardi, [2019] 4 S.C.R. 3 at paras. 26 and 31; R. v Creighton, [1993] 3 S.C.R. 3 at 54; Deslauriers c. R., supra note 2 at para. 18.] 

For obvious reasons, only the commission of the unlawful act is contentious here.
Commission of the unlawful act
Contrary to what the accused claims, the material element (the actus reus) of the underlying offence is not to intentionally and unlawfully discharge a firearm, but rather to have intentionally discharged a firearm.[footnoteRef:79] [79:  	Deslauriers c. R., supra note 2 at para. 13. With respect to the offence set out in para. 244.2(1)(a) Cr. C., the Supreme Court of Canada was of the view in R. v. Hills, 2023 SCC 2 at paragraph 8 that intentionally discharging a firearm is part of the mental element (mens rea) and not the actus reus, which in this case is limited to discharging a firearm into or at a place.] 

However, the mere fact of intentionally discharging a firearm is not in itself sufficient. It must be shown that the accused acted while being reckless as to the life or safety of another person.[footnoteRef:80] This is the mens rea of this offence. [80:  	R. c. Côté, 2018 QCCA 1153 at para. 9.] 

There is some controversy in this regard.
In Sansregret v. R.,[footnoteRef:81] the Supreme Court stated that recklessness must have an element of the subjective, found in the attitude of the person who, aware there is danger that their conduct could bring about a prohibited result, nevertheless chooses to take a chance: [81:  	[1985] 1 S.C.R. 570 at para. 16.] 

In accordance with well-established principles for the determination of criminal liability, recklessness, to form a part of the criminal mens rea, must have an element of the subjective. It is found in the attitude of one who, aware that there is danger that his conduct could bring about the result prohibited by the criminal law, nevertheless persists, despite the risk. It is, in other words, the conduct of one who sees the risk and who takes the chance.
In this case, based on this definition, the Crown must prove that the accused considered the possibility that discharging his firearm might jeopardize the lives or safety of others and that being aware of this fact, he still took the chance by firing. It does not have to prove any specific intent to cause bodily harm to anyone.[footnoteRef:82] [82:  	Goupil c. R., 2014 QCCA 2176 at para. 33.] 

However, counsel for the accused argued that, in addition to demonstrating that her client was aware that his conduct could endanger the lives or safety of others (subjective aspect), the Crown must also prove that the risk he incurred while firing was unjustified (objective aspect) as an essential element.[footnoteRef:83]  [83:  	See R. v. Hamilton, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 432 at paras. 28–33; Morris Manning & Peter Sankoff, Manning Mewett & Sankoff: Criminal Law, 5th ed. (Markham: LexisNexis, 2015) at paras. 4.78 to 4.80 and 4.84; Don Stuart, Canadian Criminal Law: A Treatise, 8th ed. (Toronto: Carswell) at 267–268.] 

Like the Court of Appeal of Quebec,[footnoteRef:84] apart from situations covered by the codified defences of justification found in the Criminal Code, the Court finds it difficult to imagine a case in which the risk of killing or seriously harming someone could be justified by some defence other than one or the other of these defences. [84:  	Deslauriers c. R., supra, note 2 at para. 16.] 

It should be remembered that the use of force against another person is justified or lawful only to the extent permitted by law, and in accordance with the conditions set out therein.[footnoteRef:85] Anyone who is authorized to use force is criminally liable for any excess of force, depending on the nature and quality of the act constituting the excess.[footnoteRef:86] [85:  	In R. v. Campbell, [1999] 1 S.C.R. 565, the Supreme Court noted that in a society subject to the rule of law, every individual must comply with the rule of law, whether they are a police officer or not. It is because of this principle that the rule set out in subsection 25(1) Cr. C. is necessary to authorize a peace officer in the performance of his or her duties to use such force as the peace officer reasonably considers necessary for that purpose: Martin Vauclair & Tristan Desjardins, Traité général de preuve et de procédure pénales, 28th ed. (Montreal, Yvon Blais, 2021) at para. 11.54.]  [86:  	Section 26 Cr. C.; See also R. v. Nasogaluak, supra note 1 at para. 32.] 

Furthermore, recently in Zora,[footnoteRef:87] where it was required to consider the mens rea relating to the failure to comply with a condition of release, the Supreme Court of Canada concluded that the Crown had to establish that the accused breached a condition of an undertaking, or order knowingly or recklessly. In addition to reiterating that recklessness requires that the accused be aware of the risk of non-compliance with their conditions and persist despite that risk, Martin J. was of the opinion that the conduct of this person must create a substantial and unjustified risk, given that the application of subsection 145(3) can operate to criminalize otherwise lawful everyday behaviour. [87:  	R. v. Zora, [2020] 2 S.C.R. 3.] 

At paragraph 119, Martin J. stated that her words should not be interpreted as changing the general principles of recklessness as a fault element set out in Sansregret, as her description of recklessness is specific to the offence under subsection 145(3).
Application 
The evidence shows that the accused voluntarily fired two consecutive shots at the victim using his loaded and functional service weapon. By his own admission, he was aiming at the driver, not the vehicle, in the hope that the threat to him would stop.
As for knowledge of the probable risk that his conduct would jeopardize the life or safety of another person, this is certainly inferred from the fact that the accused is an experienced officer, trained in the handling of a firearm, who, on a regular basis, is required to qualify to be authorized to use his assigned service weapon and who, in the course of his duties, had previously had to use it to kill injured animals on the roadside. 
Moreover, the fact that he waited for the passengers to move away before drawing his weapon and then adopting the “low ready” position is further evidence of his knowledge that the use of his firearm could have potentially lethal consequences.
In the Court’s view, the essential elements of the underlying offence are in some way and to some extent connected. Given the plausibility of the defences invoked by the accused,[footnoteRef:88] it is up to the Crown to demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, that they do not apply.  [88:  	The burden is evidential, rather than persuasive: Paul c. R., 2017 QCCA 245 at para. 56; See also R. v. Cinous, [2002] 2 S.C.R. 3 at para. 52.] 

In either case, whether it is the defence of justification set out in section 25 Cr.C. or self-defence set out in section 34 Cr.C., the burden is on the accused to show that the defence invoked has an air of reality. If he does so, it is then up to the Crown to convince the judge beyond a reasonable doubt that any of the constituent elements of these defences is not satisfied.[footnoteRef:89] [89:  	R. c. Deslauriers, supra note 2 at para. 28; Robitaille Drouin c. R., 2022 QCCA 233 at para. 38.] 

In applying the air of reality test, a trial judge considers the totality of the evidence, and assumes the evidence relied upon by the accused to be true. The evidential foundation can be indicated by evidence emanating from the examination in chief or cross-examination of the accused, of defence witnesses, or of Crown witnesses. It can also rest upon the factual circumstances of the case or from any other evidential source on the record. There is no requirement that the evidence be adduced by the accused.[footnoteRef:90] [90:  	R. v. Cinous, supra note 87 at para. 53.] 


The correct approach to the air of reality test is well established. The test is whether there is evidence on the record upon which a properly instructed jury acting reasonably could acquit.[footnoteRef:91] [91:  	Ibid. at para. 49.] 

In this case, the Court finds that the accused has met this evidentiary burden.
Did the Crown demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused was not justified in using force, within the meaning of section 25(3) Cr.C., or that self-defence does not apply in this case?
It is now recognized that the principles applicable to these two grounds are substantially the same. In both instances, the force used by the accused must be necessary, proportionate, and reasonable in the circumstances, all in order to protect himself or others.[footnoteRef:92] [92:  	R. v. Power, 2016 SKCA 29 at paras. 29 to 32. See also R. v. Szczerbaniwicz, [2010] 1 S.C.R. 455 at paras. 16 to 20, in which the Supreme Court of Canada found that the terms “force that is necessary”, “force reasonable in all the circumstances”, and “proportionality” all refer to the same legal standard when force is used in the defence of property.] 

The Court will therefore address these grounds simultaneously, while examining any applicable distinctions.
Protection of law enforcement
Police officers do not have an unlimited power to inflict harm on a person in the course of their duties. While, at times, the police may have to resort to force in order to complete an arrest or prevent an offender from escaping police custody, the allowable degree of force to be used remains constrained by the principles of proportionality, necessity, and reasonableness.[footnoteRef:93] [93:  	R. v. Nasogaluak, supra note 1 at para. 32.] 

The purpose of section 25 Cr.C. is to protect persons administering or enforcing the law from criminal liability, under certain conditions, when they are required to use force in the course of their duties:
25(1) Everyone who is required or authorized by law to do anything in the administration or enforcement of the law
...
(b) as a peace officer or public officer;
...
is, if he acts on reasonable grounds, justified in doing what he is required or authorized to do and in using as much force as is necessary for that purpose.
...
(3) Subject to subsections (4) and (5), a person is not justified for the purposes of subsection (1) in using force that is intended or is likely to cause death or grievous bodily harm unless the person believes on reasonable grounds that it is necessary for the self-preservation of the person or the preservation of any one under that person’s protection from death or grievous bodily harm.” [Emphasis added.]
Section 26 Cr.C., however, provides that every person authorized by law to use force is criminally responsible for any excess thereof according to the nature and quality of the act that constitutes the excess.
Section 25(1) essentially provides that a police officer is justified in using force to effect a lawful arrest, provided that he or she acted on reasonable and probable grounds and used only as much force as was necessary in the circumstances. That is not the end of the matter. Section 25(3) also prohibits a police officer from using a greater degree of force, i.e., that which is intended or likely to cause death or grievous bodily harm, unless he or she believes that it is necessary to protect him- or herself, or another person under his or her protection, from death or grievous bodily harm. The officer’s belief must be objectively reasonable. This means that the use of force under s. 25(3) is to be judged on a subjective-objective basis.[footnoteRef:94] [Emphasis added.] [94:  	R. v. Nasogaluak, supra, note 1 at para. 34.] 

Unlike subsection 25(3), the ground set out in subsection 25(1) does not require that the police officer intended to protect themselves from an attack. This ground of defence could be sought, for example, if a police officer struck an uncooperative offender resisting arrest for the sole purpose of handcuffing the person.
However, when the protection of subsection 25(3) is invoked, the Court must also determine whether it was objectively reasonable for the peace officer to believe that the force used was necessary to protect themselves or another person from an attack in which grievous bodily harm or death could occur, justifying the officer’s decision to use force with the stated intent.

The officer’s belief would then be analyzed from the point of view of a reasonable police officer, in the same situation, with the same training and experience. Therefore, the question is not what the police officer thought was reasonable based on their characteristics and experiences, but rather what a reasonable police officer with the same training and experience would perceive in the circumstances:
It is well-established that a trial judge must assess the reasonableness of the police officer’s belief that the use of lethal force was necessary on a ‘subjective-objective basis’ (see Nasogaluak at para. 34). In order to make such an assessment, the judge must consider the matter from the standpoint of a person with the background, experience, and training of the police officer in question. In Berntt v Vancouver (City), 1999 BCCA 345 at para. 24, Southin J.A. described the trial judge’s role as being ‘a doppelganger to the peace officer whose conduct is in issue.[footnoteRef:95] [95:  	R. V. Pompeo, 2014 BCCA 317 at para. 36.] 

As for the police officer’s response, police actions should not be judged against a standard of perfection. It must be remembered that the police engage in dangerous and demanding work and often have to react quickly to emergencies. Their actions should be judged in light of these exigent circumstances.[footnoteRef:96] Thus, courts must refrain from assessing police conduct based on the standard of conduct of someone sitting in the calmness of a comfortable office, as opposed to the action on the streets.[footnoteRef:97] [96:  	Ibid. at para. 35; see also R. v. Asante-Mensah, [2003] 2 S.C.R. 3 at para. 73; Cluett v. R., [1985] 2 S.C.R. 216 at 222; R. v. Biron, [1976] 2 S.C.R. 56 at 64; R. c. Cavaliere, 2008 QCCQ 401 at para. 92; R. v. Power, supra note 91 at para. 28.]  [97:  	R. c. Cavaliere, supra, note 95 at para. 93; see also Crampton v. Walton, 2005 ABCA 81 at para. 45: “Accordingly, the immediate decisions a police officer makes in the course of duty are not assessed through the ‘lens of hindsight’”; Paul c. R., 2017 QCCA 245 at para. 56.] 

Self-defence
Since March 11, 2013, self-defence has been set out in section 34 of the Criminal Code:
34 (1) A person is not guilty of an offence if 
(a) they believe on reasonable grounds that force is being used against them or another person or that a threat of force is being made against them or another person; 
(b) the act that constitutes the offence is committed for the purpose of defending or protecting themselves or the other person from that use or threat of force; and 
(c) the act committed is reasonable in the circumstances. 
Factors 
(2) In determining whether the act committed is reasonable in the circumstances, the court shall consider the relevant circumstances of the person, the other parties and the act, including, but not limited to, the following factors: 
(a) the nature of the force or threat; 
(b) the extent to which the use of force was imminent and whether there were other means available to respond to the potential use of force; 
(c) the person’s role in the incident; 
(d) whether any party to the incident used or threatened to use a weapon; 
(e) the size, age, gender and physical capabilities of the parties to the incident; 
(f) the nature, duration and history of any relationship between the parties to the incident, including any prior use or threat of force and the nature of that force or threat; 
(f.1) any history of interaction or communication between the parties to the incident; 
(g) the nature and proportionality of the person’s response to the use or threat of force; and
(h) whether the act committed was in response to a use or threat of force that the person knew was lawful.
No defence 
(3) Subsection (1) does not apply if the force is used or threatened by another person for the purpose of doing something that they are required or authorized by law to do in the administration or enforcement of the law, unless the person who commits the act that constitutes the offence believes on reasonable grounds that the other person is acting unlawfully. [Emphasis added.]

The three cumulative questions that a judge must ask when self-defence is raised are: (1) The catalyst—the accused must reasonably believe that force or a threat of force is being used against them or someone else; (2) the motive—the subjective purpose for responding to the threat must be to protect oneself or others; and (3) the response—the accused’s act must be reasonable in the circumstances.[footnoteRef:98]  [98:  	R. v. Khill, 2021 SCC 37 at para. 37, 44, 51; Robitaille Drouin c. R., supra note 88 at para. 16.] 

As for the catalyst, did the accused believe on reasonable grounds that force was being used or threatened against him? To answer this question, it is necessary to examine the accused’s state of mind and his perception of the events that led him to act. An objective component is superimposed on that analysis that involves assessing what a reasonable person, having the characteristics and experiences of the accused, would perceive regarding the use or threat of force.[footnoteRef:99] [99:  	Robitaille Drouin c. R., supra note 88 at para. 18.] 

The motive involves determining the intent of the accused at the time force was used. The accused’s conduct must be examined subjectively by asking whether he acted to stop the attack or protect or defend himself, rather than in retaliation or vengeance. The time between the use of force and the alleged act, as well as the nature of the accused’s response, may be relevant considerations in determining whether the accused acted with a defensive purpose or, on the contrary, with a purpose of vengeance, which is not protected. If the act has no defensive or protective purpose, then the defence does not apply.[footnoteRef:100] [100:  	Robitaille Drouin c. R., supra note 88 at para. 19.] 

This subjective analysis must take into account the reality of the accused and the particular context in which he found himself. It is important to avoid hindsight or slowing things down as if the accused had time to think carefully. In some cases, events can take place very quickly and the accused’s state of mind must be assessed in light of the evolving circumstances. The accused’s purpose may therefore evolve as the incident progresses or worsens.[footnoteRef:101] [101:  	Ibid. at para. 20.] 

Last, ss for the response, the Court must examine the accused’s response to the use or threat of force to determine whether they acted reasonably in the circumstances. While paragraph 34(1)(a) of the Criminal Code focuses on the reasonableness of the belief, paragraph 34(1)(c) focuses on assessing the reasonableness of the conduct of an accused who invokes self-defence. In other words, the analysis looks at what a reasonable person would have done in the same circumstances. The purpose of this test is to ensure that the use of self-defence complies with modern social standards of conduct.[footnoteRef:102] [102:  	Ibid. at para. 21.] 

The analysis of the reasonableness of the act committed in response to the use of force is flexible and contextual. While a judge must consider a set of factors listed in subsection 34(2) of the Criminal Code related to the personal situation and role played by each of the protagonists, the analysis must be objective in that the focus remains on what a reasonable person would have done in comparable circumstances.[footnoteRef:103]  [103:  	Ibid. at para. 22.] 

As noted, these factors include, but are not limited to the nature of the force or threat; the extent to which the use of force was imminent and whether there were other means available to respond to the potential use of force; the role played by the accused in the incident; whether any party to the incident used or threatened to use a weapon; the size, age, gender, and physical capabilities of the parties to the incident; the nature, duration, and history of any relationship between the parties to the incident, including any prior use or threat of force; and the nature and proportionality of the accused’s response to the use or threat of force.[footnoteRef:104] [104:  	Ibid. at para. 23.] 

With respect to the role played by the person in the incident, this factor includes any relevant conduct by the accused during the course of the incident, their actions, their omissions, and the exercise of their judgment. The role of the accused during the incident covers any relevant conduct, whether lawful or unlawful, provocative or non-provocative, blameworthy or non-blameworthy, and whether minimally responsive or excessive.[footnoteRef:105] [105:  	Robitaille Drouin c. R., supra note 88 at para. 24] 

From this perspective, the conduct of the accused throughout the incident sheds light on the nature and extent of their responsibility for the confrontation that culminated in the act giving rise to the charge.[footnoteRef:106] [106:  	Ibid. at para. 25.] 

In short, the assessment of the accused’s criminal liability must not be made narrowly by considering only the specific act alleged, which could have taken place in a few moments. Rather, it must place this act in its context, which includes the conduct of the parties, from the beginning to the end of the incident.[footnoteRef:107] [107:  	Ibid. at para. 26.] 

In assessing the reasonableness of the appellant’s response, the judge must carefully consider the circumstances of the incident in a global, holistic manner in light of the factors set out in subsection 34(2).[footnoteRef:108] [108:  	Ibid. at para. 26.] 

Application
The fact that the accused was a peace officer in the performance of his duties at the time of the events or that he had reasonable grounds to arrest D.H.-L. for vehicle theft are not at issue here.[footnoteRef:109] [109:  	The Crown acknowledges this in paragraph 54 of its book of submissions.] 

Rather, the prosecution argues that the accused’s belief that he was being attacked by D.H.-L. is not objectively reasonable because the vehicle was heading toward the exit, not charging at him, passing close by him, but not hitting him. Moreover, the images taken from the video filed (Exhibit P-40) show that the accused never moved out of the Mazda’s path to avoid being hit, nor did he try to move away from it.
Furthermore, the accused acknowledged that firing on D.H-L. would not stop the vehicle from continuing forward. Mr. Lawrence agreed that firing on a moving vehicle would not prevent it from continuing to move. Accordingly, the Crown argues that it was not reasonably justifiable for the accused to use a means that he knew was pointless and doomed to fail, thereby acting unreasonably. 
Moreover, the Crown alleges that it was not necessary for him to fire on D.H.-L. because there were other means available to him, such as moving aside and moving away from the vehicle. The Crown further argues that since he was not in front of the Mazda at the time of the second shot, the force used became unjustified.
In short, in the Crown’s view, the accused fired at the victim not to protect himself, but to prevent the victim from fleeing at all costs. In doing so, the use of lethal force was not justified because it was not necessary, proportionate, or reasonable in the circumstances.
The catalyst
First, the totality of the evidence convincingly shows that it was impossible for D.H.-L. to take the exit from the parking lot because it was completely blocked by the cruiser and other vehicles parked on the roadway to the site. The victim was therefore not heading toward the exit as the Crown suggests. Based on the markings on the icy pavement recorded by an SPVM officer, photographs of the scene, images taken from the video filed, and the testimony of the civilian witnesses called by the Crown (exception for one), the Court finds that D.H.-L. attempted to escape by taking the snowbank located between the front of the patrol car and the black Kia, close to where the accused was standing. Moreover, this is what witness Julie Duchesneau stated.
That being said, for the same reasons, the Court believes the accused’s testimony when he stated that the victim suddenly started the vehicle forward, pressing the accelerator to the floor and driving quickly at him, that he perceived it as a life-threatening attack, and that this was the reason why he fired at the driver. 
Based on the Crown’s evidence, it is indisputable that D.H.-L. did not wish to comply with the orders given by the accused and that, before starting forward quickly, he chose to rev the vehicle’s engine as a sign of defiance and as a threat.
Moreover, the accused’s version is supported by the testimony of Daniel Gauthier, Julie Duchesneau, and J.T.-M. who, in turn, stated that when the Mazda started forward, the accused was either in front of it or in its path. M.B. went so far as to state that the vehicle was headed straight toward the accused and that the accused, surely frightened, started to shoot.
The Court also finds that the expert testimony of Mr. Grandbois and Mr. Arnet regarding the accused’s proximity at the time of the second shot, as well as the images taken from the video filed (Exhibit P-40), showing the vehicle brushing by him, support his testimony.
Last, the accused’s assertion that he feared being struck by the vehicle is consistent with the description given by Sylvain Grenier regarding the accused’s state of mind in the moments following the tragic events.
The Crown argues that since the evidence shows that the vehicle passed by the accused without ever hitting him, his belief that he was being attacked is not reasonable. 
The Court reiterates that the law continues to accept that an honest but mistaken belief can nevertheless be reasonable and does not automatically bar a claim to self-defence.[footnoteRef:110] [110:  	R. V. Khill, supra note 97, para 57.] 

Moreover, it seems important to note that all participants in this trial, including myself, had the opportunity to look at the totality of the evidence, over a period of more than 20 days, in the peace and calm of a courtroom, in an attempt to determine what took place on January 22nd, 2014, at lunchtime, in the parking lot of Polyvalente A.‑N. Morin. We also know, after the fact, that the accused was luckily not hit by the vehicle in question.
However, at the time of the events, the accused did not have this opportunity, having only 2.6 seconds to perceive the threat, analyze it, and react, while a revving vehicle charged toward him, skidding and accelerating, with a stubborn driver behind the wheel, who refused to obey orders despite a weapon being pointed at him, knowing that he had no way to escape, since the accused’s cruiser blocked the exit.
This is the context in which the accused had to quickly make a crucial decision, without the luxury or benefit of careful thought.
That being the case, on the question of whether his belief or perception of being the object of an attack that could cause bodily harm or death was objectively reasonable, the Court finds that, in light of all the evidence, a reasonable person, a police officer in this instance, in the same situation, would have perceived that D.H.-L.’s actions were capable of causing such consequences. 
This conclusion is based, in part, on the expert opinion of Mr. Grandbois regarding the vehicle’s path, determined from the data recorded by Officer Stéphane Gauthier, the short distance travelled, and the speed at which the vehicle was moving, and that of Dr. Green regarding the effects of “looming” on an individual’s perception.
Added to this testimony is that of Mr. Lechasseur, who stated that Sûreté du Québec officers are taught to consider refusals to comply with orders as a warning sign of a potential attack, and the evidence of the defiant and uncooperative behaviour adopted by D.H.-L. at the time of the events.
The motive
In light of the above, the Court also finds that the accused acted to protect himself and not to prevent D.H.-L. from escaping, as alleged by the Crown. If that were the case, why did he not continue firing when the vehicle continued its way after the second shot? 
The evidence shows that aspiring police officers are taught to fire as long as the threat exists. The Court also notes that the [TRANSLATION] “perception-response” process is not instantaneous. The Court deduces from this that, to stop his action, the accused must perceive that the attack has stopped and then react by no longer pulling the trigger. A delay, however small, necessarily follows.
Given that the evidence documents two rapid, consecutive shots, the need for reduced pressure to be applied on the trigger to re-fire and a shorter “trigger run”, the brevity of the event (2.6 seconds in total), the distance between the accused and the vehicle (5.7 m), and the vehicle’s speed of travel (3.8 m/second), the Court is of the view that this was a single firing sequence by which the accused sought to protect himself.
The response
At this point, the Court must determine whether the accused’s conduct was reasonable in the circumstances, taking into account the facts relevant to the accused’s personal situation and that of D.H.-L., as well as the facts relevant to the act committed. 
To do so, the Court will review the factors previously mentioned, bearing in mind that no single factor is determinant in itself.[footnoteRef:111] Rather, this is a global, holistic exercise.[footnoteRef:112] [111:  	R. v. Khill, supra note 97 at para. 69.]  [112:  	Ibid.] 

· The nature of the force or threat 
As already mentioned by the Court, the force used by D.H.-L. was such that a reasonable person, in the same situation as the accused, would have perceived that D.H.-L.’s actions, by charging toward the accused in a motor vehicle as he did, were likely to cause his death or grievous bodily harm, given the circumstances.
· The extent to which the use of force was imminent and whether there were other means available to respond to its potential use
This involves weighing the accused’s response once the perceived threat materialized. The Court’s analysis is therefore temporally bound by the force or threat of force that motivated the accused to act on one end and his subsequent response on the other.[footnoteRef:113] [113:  	R. v. Khill, supra note 97 at para. 82.] 

This factor considers what alternatives the accused could have pursued instead of the act underlying the offence, such as retreat or less harmful measures, relative to the imminence of the threat.[footnoteRef:114] [114:  	Ibid.] 

The Court agrees with author Hughes Parent when he writes that [TRANSLATION] “by forcing the accused to act quickly, the imminent danger significantly reduces the inventory of available solutions and may prevent the accused from envisaging the existence of other means to respond to the use of force. It reduces the inventory of available solutions because an imminent attack requires an immediate response before the availability of other possible avenues comes to mind. The more imminent the use of force, the less likely other means will be used to respond to its potential use.”[footnoteRef:115]  [115:  	Hughes Parent, Traité de droit criminel: l’imputabilité, 6th ed. (Montreal:  Thémis, 2022) at 924.] 

The imminence of the danger is reflected here in the short distance between the accused and the Mazda, the suddenness with which D.H.-L. started the vehicle forward, and the speed at which he drove toward the accused. His actions could not be reasonably foreseen. The Court believes the accused when he stated that he never would have thought that the driver would try to run him over instead of surrendering or fleeing on foot. Moreover, there is no reason to dismiss his testimony that he saw no option other than to shoot the victim. The evidence shows that when a police officer’s life is threatened, the [TRANSLATION] “default” response that they are taught is to use lethal force, in this case his firearm.[footnoteRef:116] And when the threat emanates from the driver of a moving vehicle and all other coercive means have proven insufficient, inapplicable, or inappropriate, the police officer will fire at the driver.[footnoteRef:117] [116:  	See Mr. Lawrence’s testimony and Exhibit D-21 at para. 147. See also the testimony of Dr. Green, who believes that the accused was not in analytical mode at the moment he used his firearm. On the contrary, his conduct was governed by the activation of an often-used motor schema, i.e., firing his service weapon.]  [117:  	See Mr. Lechasseur’s testimony and Exhibit P-45 ([TRANSLATION] Management policy, GEN. DIR. 42, on the carrying, handling, and use of a firearm) at para. 3.4.3.E.] 

While it is true that the accused could have moved away to avoid being struck by the vehicle, rather than firing at its driver, the evidence falls far short of being convincing of the effectiveness of such action. The critical zone within which the accused risked being struck by the vehicle, established by Mr. Grandbois, goes well beyond the distance that would have been possible to achieve in one or two strides.[footnoteRef:118] [118:  	See Exhibit D-16 at 16, para. 6.1.] 

Furthermore, since we all now know that the vehicle fortunately did not hit the accused directly, it may be tempting to analyze the smallest facts and actions taken or not by the accused with hindsight. However, the Court must put itself in the accused’s position at the time of the events. That is why I must keep in mind that he was dealing with an uncooperative individual who stubbornly refused to comply with orders given by a police officer, despite a firearm being pointed at him, and who displayed unpredictable behaviour. In the urgency of the situation, it was reasonable for the accused to consider that D.H.-L. might change the direction of the vehicle to hit him, even if he changed his location by a few steps. 
The Court therefore finds that the imminence of the danger and the lack of other effective means to respond to the use of force[footnoteRef:119] prompted the accused to act as he did, remembering that the accused did not have the luxury of careful reflection before he committed the alleged act. His actions must not be judged against a standard of perfection. A person who must defend against an attack cannot be expected to be able to accurately assess the defensive measures required to be used.[footnoteRef:120]  [119:  	See Exhibit P-44 entitled [TRANSLATION] “National use of force model – Explanatory document”; see also Mr. Lawrence’s testimony and his report filed as Exhibit D-21 at paras. 91 to 114.]  [120:  	R. c. Leblanc, 2023 QCCQ 4888 at para. 119.ii.10.] 

The person’s role in the incident
The role played by the person in the incident captures the full scope of actions the accused could have taken before the presentation of the threat that motivated the claim of self-defence, including reasonable avenues the accused could have taken to avoid bringing about the violent incident.[footnoteRef:121] [121:  	R. v. Khill, supra note 97 at para. 82.] 

This factor encompasses not only provocative or unlawful conduct, but also hotheadedness, the reckless escalation of risk, and a failure to reasonably reassess the situation as it unfolds.[footnoteRef:122] It captures the full range of human conduct: from the “Good Samaritan” and the innocent victim of an unprovoked assault, to the initial and persistent aggressor, and everything in between.[footnoteRef:123] [122:  	Ibid. at para. 84.]  [123:  	Ibid. at para. 84.] 

The question is who bears what responsibility for how things happened? The extent to which the accused bears responsibility for the ultimate confrontation or is the author of their own misfortune may colour the assessment of whether the accused’s act was reasonable. For example, an accused’s reckless or negligent decisions preceding a violent encounter may shed light on the ultimate reasonableness of their acts.[footnoteRef:124] [124:  	R. v. Khill, supra note 97 at para. 86.] 

However, an accused who played a prosocial role would increase their chances of justifying or excusing their act, even though the accused escalated the incident that led to the death of the victim, was mistaken as to the existence of the threat or used disproportionate force. By contrast, society is more likely to view the accused’s ultimate act as wrongful or inexcusable where their conduct was rash, reckless, negligent, or unreasonable.[footnoteRef:125] [125:  	R. v. Khill, supra note 97 at para. 105.] 

Without explicitly stating it, the Crown seems to fault the accused, through his acts and omissions, of being the source of the conflict between him and the victim. According to the prosecution, the actions taken by the accused represent a series of bad decisions on his part. They include, for example, that the accused did not wait for backup before intervening alone, without notifying his colleagues, that he decided to block the only exit from the parking lot with his cruiser, directly in front of a running vehicle, that he drew his weapon as soon as he got out of his cruiser,[footnoteRef:126] that he approached the vehicle with his weapon drawn, and that he did not warn the driver that he would shoot if he refused to comply.[footnoteRef:127] [126:  	The testimony of Julie Duchesneau, J.T.-M., and Yvon Rioux indicate rather that the accused put his hand on his belt when he got out of his cruiser and that he did not draw his weapon until he ensured that the passengers had moved away from the Mazda.]  [127:  	The Court is satisfied that the accused did not open fire on D.H.-L. because he refused to comply with the orders given. Rather, he shot at him because he was accelerating toward him behind the wheel of the Mazda.] 


With respect, the Court does not share the Crown’s point of view.
As a police officer, it is his duty to maintain the peace, prevent crime, and protect the lives of people and property.[footnoteRef:128] He must intervene when a crime is committed.[footnoteRef:129] These are his primary duties recognized by the common law. [128:  	Fleming v. Ontario, [2019] 3 S.C.R. 519 at paras. 69–70.]  [129:  	Police Act, R.S.Q., c. P-13.1, s. 48.] 

Moreover, in light of the totality of the evidence, the manner in which he acted is consistent with generally accepted police practices. His actions are part of the prosocial role that the accused is called upon to fulfill. He cannot be accused of having played a role in initiating the conflict, nor in exacerbating the situation through his conduct.
The Court considers that it was D.H-L.’s extraordinary actions that form the genesis of the conflict between him and the accused. His reaction could not reasonably have been foreseen. 
· The parties to the incident used or threatened to use a weapon
Clearly, the accused used his service weapon to fire at D.H.-L. while D.H.-L. was charging toward him at the wheel of a motor vehicle, which can, depending on the context, be considered a weapon within the meaning of the Criminal Code.[footnoteRef:130]  [130:  	Section 2: “weapon means any thing used, designed to be used or intended for use (a) in causing death or injury to any person, or (b) for the purpose of threatening or intimidating any person”.
] 

The Court is of the view that, in this case, both parties used a weapon.
· The nature, duration, and history of any relationship between the parties to the incident, including any prior use or threat of force, and the nature of that force or threat
It is clear that the accused did not know D.H.-L. prior to the events. He had never dealt with him in the past and knew almost nothing about him, including his criminal history, except that he was driving a vehicle reported stolen in the previous days. 
However, one thing remains. D.H.-L. behaved in an intimidating and threatening manner toward the accused just before the incident by revving the Mazda’s engine, while stubbornly refusing to comply with orders given for the purpose of arresting him. 
 In examining this factor together with the history of interactions or communications between the parties to the incident, the Court finds that D.H.-L., by his actions, threatened to use force likely to cause grievous bodily harm or death to the accused before the accused responded when the threat was carried out.
· The nature and proportionality of the person’s response to the use or threat of force
Considering the reasonable perception that the vehicle driven by D.H.-L. was accelerating toward him, that grievous bodily harm or death could have been caused to him if he had been struck, that no other effective alternative appeared to be available at that very moment, and in light of all the evidence, the Court finds that the accused’s response of firing twice in order to protect himself was necessary and proportionate in the circumstances.
As previously mentioned, given the manner in which the shots were fired, I consider this to be a single sequence, not two separate moments, as suggested by the Crown.
At the risk of being repetitious, the accused’s actions must not be judged against a standard of perfection. A person who must defend themselves against a perceived attack cannot be expected to be able to accurately assess the defensive measures that need to be used. Placed in an urgent situation, the person certainly does not have the luxury of careful reflection.
Conclusion as to the accused’s response
For all these reasons, the Court finds that the accused’s conduct was reasonable in the circumstances in that a reasonable police officer would have acted in the same manner in a comparable situation.
His actions are consistent with the essence of the training given to police officers, the directives of the Sûreté du Québec on the use of a firearm, and the expert evidence on how police force is to be deployed, according to the [TRANSLATION] “Use of Force Model.”
Conclusion on the application of the justification set out in subsections 25(1) and 25(3) Cr.C. and self-defence (s. 34 Cr.C.)
In light of all the above, the Court finds that the Crown failed to discharge its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one of the tests of these grounds was not met.
I am of the opinion that the accused used the necessary and proportionate force to protect himself, in the circumstances, since he could reasonably have believed that he was the subject of an attack endangering his life or physical integrity. Accordingly, there remains a reasonable doubt in my mind about the unjustified nature of the force employed within the meaning of subsection 25(3) Cr.C.
With respect to self-defence, the Court finds that the accused believed, on reasonable grounds, that D.H.-L. was charging toward him at the wheel of the stolen vehicle, that he fired to defend himself, and that his conduct was reasonable in the circumstances.
The tragic result is an unfortunate but proportionate response to the perception of a real and immediate threat to the accused’s life.
Did the Crown prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential elements of the offence of manslaughter by criminal negligence? In particular, did it demonstrate that the conduct of the accused constitutes a marked and substantial departure from the conduct of a reasonably prudent police officer in the circumstances?
For the accused to be convicted of manslaughter by criminal negligence through the use of a firearm, the Crown must show that the accused, by his acts or omission, endangered the life and safety of another person and thereby caused his death. This is the actus reus of the offence.[footnoteRef:131] [131:  	Deslauriers c. R., supra note 2 at para. 19.] 

As for the fault element, it is a matter of the accused’s act or omission showing wanton or reckless disregard for the lives or safety of other persons, which requires the Crown to prove that the accused’s conduct was a marked and substantial departure from that of a reasonable person (here, a police officer) in the same circumstances.[footnoteRef:132] [132:  	R. v. Javanmardi, [2019] 4 S.C.R. 3 at paras. 20–23; Deslauriers c. R., supra note 2 at para. 20.] 

The analysis of this element of the offence of criminal negligence involves a two-step process. First, the Court must ask whether, in light of all of the evidence, a reasonable person would have foreseen the risk inherent in the accused conduct and taken measures to prevent it if possible. If so, the Court must then determine whether the accused’s failure to foresee the risk and take measures to avoid it amounts to a marked and substantial departure from the standard of care a reasonable person in the same circumstances as the accused would have exercised.
Application
Again, it is undisputed that by firing twice at him, the accused is responsible for the death of D.H.-L. The material element of the offence is thus established.
With respect to the fault element, the accused believes that by acting as he did, his conduct is consistent with that of a reasonably prudent police officer in the same situation. In his opinion, the evidence shows that the use of his service weapon respects both the relevant police training and the administrative directives of the Sûreté du Québec. As a result, a reasonable police officer, faced with a vehicle charging toward him, would also have fired at the driver. In other words, a reasonably prudent police officer could not have done anything else to avoid endangering the life and safety of D.H.-L. in such circumstances.
Crown Counsel argues that the accused’s conduct that led to the death of D.H.-L. represents a series of bad strategic decisions, contrary to the training given by and the administrative directives of the Sûreté du Québec.[footnoteRef:133] She argues that his approach to managing the risk shows criminal intent that she considers to be [TRANSLATION] “greater than recklessness.” [133:  	The Court notes that the Crown’s representatives did not call any witnesses regarding the content of the training given to aspiring police officers. Instead, its counsel chose to cross-examine Mr. Lechasseur and Mr. Lawrence on this matter.] 

In the Crown’s opinion, a reasonable police officer would have foreseen that intercepting by himself a vehicle he knew was stolen, without waiting for backup that was headed to the scene and without warning anyone of his intentions, when there was no urgency to do so, by blocking the only exit from the site, and pointing a weapon at the driver while voluntarily placing himself in the vehicle’s path was too risky. The Crown claims that this prudent police officer would have taken steps to act differently.
What is more, instead of firing at a moving vehicle, in the parking lot of a high school where there were other persons, a reasonable police officer would have simply moved away when seeing the Mazda heading toward him. By acting as he did, the accused violated the management policies of the Sûreté du Québec [TRANSLATION] (GEN. DIR. 42)[footnoteRef:134] on the carrying, handling, and use of a firearm, which prohibits, with exceptions, firing on a moving vehicle, as well as its general operations directive [TRANSLATION] (GEN. OPER. 30) on police pursuits.[footnoteRef:135] [134:  	Exhibit P-45.]  [135:  	Exhibit P-46. The Court finds that this directive is of little value given that this case does not involve a police pursuit, per se.] 

Thus, in the Crown’s view, the accused’s conduct represents a marked and substantial departure from that of a reasonable police officer in the same situation.
With respect, the Court finds that it has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused’s conduct constitutes a marked and substantial departure from that which a reasonable person (here, a police officer) would have adopted in the same situation.
On the contrary, the testimony of Mr. Lechasseur and Mr. Lawrence make it possible to conclude that the accused’s actions, on the day of the events, were consistent with generally accepted police training and practices, which are in principle followed by a reasonable police officer in the performance of their duties. 
Perhaps he could have taken cover behind his cruiser or another vehicle, pending the imminent arrival of his colleagues, as the Crown suggests. It is conceivable that D.H.-L. would have acted differently upon seeing other police officers and would have decided to comply with the orders given. The accused’s intervention may not have been perfect, but that is not the standard by which the Court must assess the work of police officers, who, it should be recalled, perform demanding and dangerous work, often requiring them to react quickly to urgent situations.
Moreover, like the accused, Officer Dominic Gingras, an experienced police officer who was at the scene a few minutes earlier, alone and on surveillance, stated that the purpose of his presence at the high school, at the lunch hour, was to locate the stolen Mazda vehicle to intercept it and arrest its driver, if necessary, knowing that it had been spotted there in the morning. He knew that the driver was suspected of being involved in ATM thefts in the previous days.
That being the case, while it may have been likely that D.H.-L. would attempt to escape on foot upon seeing the police cruiser, the Court believes that it was not reasonably foreseeable, even for an experienced police officer, that instead of cooperating, D.H.-L. would drive his car, at full speed, toward the accused. 
Therefore, the Court finds that the accused’s failure to foresee the risk and take steps to avoid it does not constitute a marked and substantial departure from the standard of care that a reasonable person in the same situation would exercise.
CONCLUSION
In light of all the evidence, the Court finds that the accused is responsible for the tragic death of D.H.-L. It is clearly established that he voluntarily fired twice at the victim with his service weapon.
However, there remains a reasonable doubt in the Court’s mind as to the unjustified nature of the force employed within the meaning of subsection 25(3) Cr.C. I am of the view that the accused used the necessary and proportionate force to protect himself, in the circumstances, since he could reasonably believe that he was the subject of an attack by which his life or physical integrity were seriously threatened. 
The same is true with respect to the claim of self-defence. The Court has a reasonable doubt as to the inapplicability of this defence. In my view, the accused believed on reasonable grounds that D.H.-L. was charging toward him at the wheel of a stolen vehicle, that he fired to defend himself, and that his conduct was reasonable in the circumstances.

With respect to the charge of manslaughter by criminal negligence through the use of a firearm, the Crown has failed to demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that his conduct constitutes a marked and substantial departure from that which a reasonable person (here, a police officer) in the same situation would have adopted.
FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT:
ACQUITS Éric Deslauriers of the charges against him.
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Figure 15 : Défilement du temps pour Ia position rapprochée
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Figure 13 : Zone occupée par le devant du Mazda
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